
Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCo) 

Agenda for a Regular Meeting  

Thursday, January 16, 2020 … 9:30 a.m. 

Board of Supervisors Chamber – Nevada County Administrative Center 

950 Maidu Avenue, Nevada City, CA 

The Commission may take action upon any item listed on the agenda at any time during the meeting.  

Scheduled items will normally be heard at the time noted, but the Commission may interrupt or defer 

discussion in order to deal with other matters. 

Agenda materials submitted for the Commission’s attention at least 72 hours before the meeting are 

available for review at the LAFCo office and are posted online, accessible via link from the LAFCo website: 

https://www.mynevadacounty.com/907/Local-Agency-Formation-Commission-LAFCo 

Members of the Commission may participate in the meeting by video teleconference from the following 

remote site:  District 5 Supervisors Conference Room, east (left) of the Nevada County Sheriff’s 

Substation, 10897 A Donner Pass Road, Truckee, California.  Pursuant to Section 54953 of the 

Government Code, Commissioners participating at the remote site shall have the same rights to 

participate as if they were present at the primary meeting site.  Members of the public may also attend the 

meeting at the site specified above and participate in the meeting as if they were at the primary meeting 

site. 

1. Call to Order/Flag Salute/Roll Call

Commissioners 

Richard Anderson (County) 

Kurt Grundel (Districts), Chair 

Anna Klovstad (Cities)  

Dan Miller (County) 

Erin Ruark-Minett (Cities) 

Josh Susman (Public) 

Nick Wilcox (Districts), Vice-Chair 

 

Alternates 

Ben Aguilar (Cities) 

Ed Beckenbach (Districts) 

Sue Hoek (County) 

Gloria Glenn (Public)  

Staff 

SR Jones, Executive Officer 

Marsha Burch, Legal Counsel 

Deborah Gilcrest, Clerk to the Commission 

2. Public Comment 

At this time, members of the public may address the Commission on any matter not on the 

agenda.  Testimony related to an item on the agenda should be presented at the time that 

item is considered. 

3. Consent Calendar 

These items are expected to be routine and noncontroversial. The Commission will act upon 

them at one time without discussion. Any Commission member, staff member or interested 

party may request that an item be removed from the consent calendar for discussion. 

3.1. Draft Minutes of November 21, 2019  

4. Business/Action 

4.1. Introduce County Counsel Kit Elliot 

This will be an opportunity for the Commission to meet newly appointed County Counsel.  

No action will be taken.   

https://www.mynevadacounty.com/907/Local-Agency-Formation-Commission-LAFCo
https://www.mynevadacounty.com/DocumentCenter/View/31963/31-Draft-Minutes


2 

 

LAFCo Office Located at:  950 Maidu Avenue ... Nevada City, California  95959 

Telephone:  530-265-7180 ... Toll Free: 888-846-7180 

4.2. County Sanitation District, Lake of the Pines Zone: Annexation - Higgins 

Marketplace  

The developer of the Higgins Marketplace shopping center has applied for annexation of 

four parcels to the County Sanitation District.  Annexation will allow the project to be 

connected to the County Sanitation District’s Lake of the Pines wastewater system.  

Annexation and connection to the District’s Lake of the Pines wastewater treatment system 

is a condition of approval of the project, and the District has indicated it has capacity and 

willingness to provide service.   

5. CALAFCO Matters  

CALAFCo Calendar of Events  

6. Announcements (Informational Items Only) 

Pursuant to Government Code Section 54954.2, Commission and staff members may make 

brief announcements or report on activities.  Commission members may also provide a 

reference to staff or other resources for factual information, request staff to report back to 

the Commission at a subsequent meeting concerning any matter, or take action to direct staff 

to place a matter of business on a future agenda. 

7. Executive Officer’s Activity Report    

 

Public Comment 

Members of the public may address the Commission regarding items not appearing on the agenda, as 

well as any item that does appear on the agenda, subject to the following restrictions: 

 Items not appearing on the agenda must be of interest to the public and within the Commission’s 

subject matter jurisdiction. 

 No action shall be taken on items not appearing on the agenda unless otherwise authorized by 

Government Code Section 54954.2 (known as the Brown Act or California Open Meeting Law) 

 The total amount of time allotted for receiving public comment may be limited to 15 minutes. 

 Any individual’s testimony may be limited to 3 minutes.  Time to address the Commission will 

be allocated on the basis of the number of requests received. 

Public Hearings 

Members of the public may address the Commission on any item appearing on the agenda as a Public 

Hearing.  The Commission may limit any person's input to three minutes.  A person may provide a 

written statement in lieu of or to supplement any oral statement made during a public hearing. 

Accessibility 

An interpreter for the hearing-impaired may be made available upon request to the Executive Officer 

72 hours before a meeting.  The location of this meeting is wheelchair accessible. 

Disclosure and Disqualification Requirements 

A LAFCo Commissioner must disqualify herself or himself from voting on an application involving 

an "entitlement for use" (such as an annexation or sphere amendment) if the Commissioner has 

received, within the last twelve months, $250 or more in campaign contributions from the applicant, 

any financially interested person who actively supports or opposes an application, or an agent (such 

as an attorney, engineer, or planning consultant) representing the applicant or an interested party.  The 

law (Government Code Section 84308) also requires any applicant or other participant in a LAFCo 

proceeding to disclose the contribution amount and name of the recipient Commissioner on the 

https://www.mynevadacounty.com/DocumentCenter/View/32121/42-CoSanDistAnnex-LOPZone-Higgins-Marketplace
https://www.mynevadacounty.com/DocumentCenter/View/31964/50-CALAFCO-Matters
https://www.mynevadacounty.com/DocumentCenter/View/32275/70-Activity-Report-for-January-2020


3 

 

LAFCo Office Located at:  950 Maidu Avenue ... Nevada City, California  95959 

Telephone:  530-265-7180 ... Toll Free: 888-846-7180 

official record of the proceeding.  This can be done in advance (in writing) or at the beginning of the 

hearing either orally or in writing.  

The law also prohibits an applicant or other participant from making a contribution of $250 or more 

to a LAFCO Commissioner while a proceeding is pending or for three months afterward.  

Any person or group that contributes or expends $1,000 or more in support of or in opposition to a 

proposal before  Nevada LAFCo, during either the application and hearing stage or the protest hearing 

stage, must disclose such contributions and expenditures through the County Elections Office, 950 

Maidu Avenue, Nevada City, CA  95959. 



 
Draft Minutes 

November 21, 2019 

 
 

LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION (LAFCo) 
OF NEVADA COUNTY 

DRAFT MINUTES 
Regular Meeting 

November 21, 2019 
 
Commissioners Present: 
 
Richard Anderson (County) 
Kurt Grundel (Districts), Chair 
Anna Klovstad (Cities) 
Sue Hoek (County) 
Erin Ruark-Minett (Cities) 
Gloria Glenn (Public) 
Nick Wilcox (Districts), Vice-Chair 
 
Commissioners Absent: 
Dan Miller (County) 
Josh Susman (Public) 
 

Alternates Present: 
 
Ben Aguilar (Cities) 
Ed Beckenbach (Districts) 
 
Alternates Absent: 
 
none 
 

Staff: 
SR Jones, Executive Officer 
P. Scott Browne, Legal Counsel 
Deborah Gilcrest, Clerk to the Commission 

 

 
Call to Order/Flag Salute/Roll Call 
Chair Grundel called the meeting to order and lead those present in the Pledge of Allegiance.  The 
Chair asked the Commission Clerk to call roll.  Following roll call, the Clerk noted a quorum was 
present. 

Public Comment 
Chair Grundel announced this as the time for any members of the public to address the Commission 
on any matter not on the agenda.  Testimony related to an item on the agenda is to be presented at 
the time designated on the agenda.  No comments from the public were received.   

Consent Calendar 
Chair Grundel announced the items listed on the Consent Calendar; the draft minutes for the 
September 19, 2019 Commission meeting and the First Quarter Budget Status Report.  

MOTION was made by Commissioner Hoek to approve the Consent Calendar.  MOTION was 
seconded by Commissioner Anderson, and passed unanimously. 

 

 

 



2 
 

 

Public Hearings 
• Annexation to City of Grass Valley – Schools & Town Talk Road; and proposed Sphere 

Amendment to the City of Grass Valley 
The Chair introduced Item 4.1, and asked staff for a report on the proposed annexations to the City 
of Grass Valley. 

SR Jones, the LAFCo Executive Officer, explained that Lyman Gilmore Middle School and the 
Scotten Elementary School are engaged in an agreement with the City of Grass Valley to allow joint use 
of school recreational facilities with students and members of the public.  The two school properties are 
located off of West Main Street outside the Grass Valley Sphere of Influence; consequently, the City’s 
application includes a request to amend the City’s sphere of influence.    

Jones explained that the City also proposes to annex a 5,736 square foot section of the abandoned 
portion of Town Talk Road that has been deeded by the County to River Valley Bank.  Annexation of 
this area is the culmination of a series of actions undertaken by the County to facilitate realignment of 
Town Talk Road as a traffic safety measure.  Jones added that area proposed for annexation was the 
subject of a land exchange between the County and River Valley Bank resulting in the bank property 
being brought into the City boundaries.  

Jones added that both schools are already connected to city sewer and receive treated water from NID.  
However, one school property (Scotten Elementary) is not currently within the boundaries of the 
Nevada Irrigation District, and is therefore recommended for annexation to NID. 

Jones noted that the project area is located near a Disadvantaged Unincorporated Community (DUC).  
Grass Valley staff and LAFCO have plans to re-visit this issue during the process of updating the city’s 
sphere of influence. 

Jones recommended adoption of Resolution 19-17, which approves an amendment to the City of Grass 
Valley Sphere of Influence; and adoption of Resolution 19-18, approving conditions of approval and 
annexation of the subject territory and a modification adding the Scotten School property to the Nevada 
Irrigation District. 

Chair Grundel opened the public hearing and asked audience members to address the Commission. 

Ms. Lois McClaughry of 10443 Cedar Avenue in Grass Valley, addressed the Commission regarding 
the proposed project.  Ms. McClaughry explained her concern that the proposed use will adversely 
impact her neighborhood.  She stated that Cedar Avenue is substandard; currently two cars cannot 
pass each other safely. Ms. McClaughry explained that the City needs to rethink its plan (to add an 
overflow parking lot at the end of Cedar Avenue). She encouraged the Commission and Staff to visit 
the area before approving the annexation. 

Ms. Andrea Eads of 10497 Cedar Avenue in Grass Valley, addressed the Commission regarding the 
proposed annexation.  She explained she had received a Notice of Intent from the City of Grass Valley 
and at that time was made aware of the City’s intention to use Prop 68 Park Improvement funds to 
connect Condon Park, Scotten Elementary and Lyman Gilman Middle School properties for public 
recreational uses.   

Using an aerial view and conceptual layout (borrowed from the Mitigated Negative Declaration, 
November 8, 2019), Ms. Eads added a marker to indicate where the one acre parking lot is proposed.  
Access to the parking lot is viewed by Ms. Eads and her neighbors as inadequate, since Cedar Avenue 
is a narrow, unimproved, dead-end street.  Ms. Eads stated that while she is not opposed to the 
annexation, she is concerned about potential noise and light pollution, lack of a wildfire escape route, 



3 
 

 

the increased traffic congestion resulting from the project, and security/safety issues in the 
neighborhood, which could decrease with additional access to Condon Park. 

Mr. John Barlebee (Cedar Avenue) addressed the Commission regarding fire danger in the 
neighborhood.  Mr. Barlebee said he has tried several times to work with the schools and the local 
fire district get them to reduce fuel in the area.  He said that while some trees were cut down, the slash 
has remained creating additional habitat for the bark beetle. Mr. Barlebee’s other concern was with 
regard to the narrowness of Cedar Avenue, adding that an emergency vehicle such as a fire truck or 
an ambulance, would not be able to get through if there were increased traffic on the road. 

Chair Grundel closed the public hearing and asked if staff from City of Grass Valley would address 
the Commission and the audience on the issues raised. 

Mr. Tom Last, Community Development Director for the City of Grass Valley, began by explaining 
the City Manager and other city staff have been working with local schools to improve recreational 
opportunities for residents.  Mr. Last stated this process began in earnest at the beginning of 2019 
around the same time as Prop 68 Funds were made available to cities throughout the state. 

Mr. Last explained that some overlap has occurred because the Prop 68 application required the City 
complete an Initial Study showing plans for all proposed recreational improvements, including traffic 
circulation and parking accomodations.  He summarized the situation as two tracks happening 
simultaneously, and that review of environmental and other impacts associated with the recreational 
improvements will require further public hearings.  Mr. Last addressed the fire safety concerns by 
outlining the actions city staff has taken to reduce fuel one lot at a time, educating residents about 
vegetation management, and implementing an aggressive plan to eliminate undergrowth in and 
around Condon Park. 

Chair Grundel closed the public hearing and asked the commission to present a motion. 

MOTION was made by Commissioner Anderson to adopt Resolution 19-17 approving the Sphere 
Amendment for the City of Grass Valley to allow for annexation of Scotten Elementary School and 
the Lyman Gilmore Middle School properties.  MOTION was seconded by Commissioner Minett, 
and passed unanimously. 

MOTION was then made by Commissioner Minett to adopt Resolution 19-18 and approving the 
annexation of the Grass Valley Schools and a portion of the Town Talk Road Right-of-way to the 
City of Grass Valley; including a modification of the proposal to annex Scotten School property to 
the Nevada Irrigation District.  MOTION was seconded by Commissioner Klovstad, and passed 
unanimously 

• Annexation to NID on East Bennett 
Chair Grundel introduced Agenda Item 4.2, a proposed annexation to Nevada Irrigation District 
adding several parcels adjacent to East Bennett Road just to the east of the Grass Valley City Limits.  
The Chair asked Executive Officer Jones to present a staff report on the issue. 

Jones explained that the Nevada Irrigation District has submitted a proposal to annex 25 properties 
in the vicinity of East Bennett Road and Idaho Maryland Road.  The annexation proposal was 
initiated in response to the request of one of the landowners (Mr. Loren Willman) who receives 
treated water service from the District as an out-of-agency user.  She added that the District has 
expanded the annexation area to include other adjacent properties pursuant to an annexation 
program developed in conjunction with its sphere of influence plan.  Jones explained that the goal 
of the District’s annexation program in this area is to facilitate annexation of the various ‘islands’ 
which were omitted from NID’s boundaries when it was established in 1921.  



4 
 

 

As part of this process, the District sent a letter to all property owners informing them of the 
District’s plans to initiate annexation of the entire area at its own cost.  No objections were 
received. 

Clerk’s Note:  At this point in the meeting, staff and commissioners discovered that the Draft 
Resolution of approval was accidentally omitted from the packet.  Chair Grundel decided to take a 
break from the agenda, and have NID staff present their power point to the Commission (Item 5.1, 
below).  Shortly thereafter, the draft resolution was forwarded to Counsel by email and distributed 
to the commissioners. 
Discussion ensued with regard to the other “islands” in the vicinity which were not included as part 
of this annexation proposal. 

MOTION to adopt Resolution 19-19  was made by Commissioner Anderson and modified by 
Counsel’s condition that NID proceed with a subsequent annexation of adjacent pre-existing islands 
of property within six months, if determined to be feasible by LAFCo,  MOTION was seconded by 
Commissioner Minett, and passed unanimously. 
 
Following up, Commissioner Hoek asked if this means the annexation presented today is being held 
up for a six month period.  Counsel Browne responded that the subsequent annexation will come back 
to the Commission at a later date, and the additional wording added to Resolution 19-19 is not 
intended to hold up the filing of the Certificate of Completion for the proposal approved today. 

• Public Workshop 
 

Chair Grundel introduced Item 5.1, a workshop presentation developed by NID and asked NID staff  
to proceed. 

 
Greg Jones, Assistant General Manager of Nevada Irrigation District introduced himself and Rem 
Scherzinger - the General Manager of NID, and then he introduced Keane Sommers, NID’s 
Hydroelectric Manager.  Mr. Jones presented a power point outlining the District’s proposal to 
provide electrical power to portions of Nevada and Placer counties.  The full power point, outlining 
NID’s proposal, is attached. 

LAFCo’s Executive Officer, SR Jones, took this opportunity to introduce Kris Berry, the EO for 
Placer County.  Jones explained that Placer and Nevada LAFCo’s have an agreement to cooperate 
on significant proposals, such as the one being considered presently by NID.  She added that the 
majority of the Nevada Irrigation District properties are in Placer County, and two of Nevada 
LAFCo commissioners would be appointed to the AdHoc Committee working on the issue. 

 
Business/Action 

• Proposed Higgins Marketplace Project – Information Only 
 

Chair Grundel introduced Item 5.2, an informational item; and asked the Executive Officer to 
present her staff report.   

SR Jones, Nevada LAFCo Executive Officer, explained that she had received an application for 
annexation to the County Sanitation District (LOP Zone) from the developers of Higgins 
Marketplace.  The application was submitted by the landowners and was not accompanied by a 
Resolution of Application adopted by the District.  Jones explained that LAFCo law specifies 



5 
 

 

that when an annexation application is not filed by the affected district, the Executive Officer 
must place the proposal on the Commission’s agenda for informational purposes only.  As per 
Government Code Section 56857, the process is intended to give the district the opportunity to 
either file a resolution of support or request termination of the proceedings.   

Jones added that Nevada County Sanitation District has indicated initial support and will provide 
a Will Serve letter documenting adequate sewer capacity for the project.   

Jones stated the proposed annexation will be scheduled for the Commission’s January 
meeting.  Chair Grundel thanked the EO for the informational report, and introduced the 
next item on the agenda. 

• Personnel Policy Amendment 
 

Chair Grundel introduced Item 5.3, and reminded the Commission that following the September 19th 
LAFCo meeting, he had directed staff to prepare an item discussing a proposed amendment of the 
Commission’s Personnel Policies proposing changes to staff’s current and future vacation times.  The 
Chair asked staff to present a staff report on the matter. 

Jones explained that the Commission’s Personnel Policies, as adopted June 11, 2015, provided unequal 
amounts of paid vacation for support staff.  Resolution 19-20 is intended to correct this discrepancy and 
provide an equal amount of vacation time to each part-time employee.  The resolution would also 
provide four weeks of vacation time per year for full-time employees when their service time exceeds 
twelve years of service, such as in the case of the current Executive Officer.   

MOTION to adopt Resolution 19-20 was made by Commissioner Hoek, to adopt the changes as 
proposed in the staff report.  MOTION was seconded by Commissioner Glenn, and passed 
unanimously. 

 

CALAFCO Matters  
• CALAFCO Conference 2019 

Commissioner Glenn stated she attended two days of the Conference and found the sessions to be 
very interesting, especially the innovations in sewer service disposal and increased community 
involvement in these type of activities. 

Commissioner Hoek shared that this was her first conference and she was very glad to have had the 
opportunity to learn more about LAFCO issues.  She added the conversation regarding the dues 
increase was protracted but also very interesting.  Commissioner Hoek said the Fire Museum was 
her favorite outing and she encouraged others to visit the facility for its outstanding historical 
displays. 

Commissioner Grundel was really looking forward to the tour of the Port Authority which turned 
out to be a bit of a disappointment.  However, he enjoyed the rest of the mobile tour, especially the 
mayor’s outstanding explanation of the history of West Sacramento’s incorporation process and re-
development of the river corridor over the last 10-20 years.    

Commissioner Minett explained this was her second conference, and she enjoyed it very much; 
particularly the tour of West Sacramento. 

Commissioner Wilcox attended the Conference and acknowledged Commissioner Susman for his 
handling of the sensitive issue of the proposed dues structure.  (Clerk’s note:  Commissioner 
Susman is the current Chair of the CALAFCO Board of Directors.) 



6 
 

 

 
Announcements 
Chair Grundel asked if there were any announcements from the floor.  No announcements were 
made.  
 
Executive Officer’s Activity Report 
The Executive Officer stated she had nothing to add to her written report.   
 
Adjournment 
 
Chair Grundel adjourned the meeting at approximately 1:20 p.m. and announced the next LAFCo 
meeting would be held January 16, 2020. 
 
 



Exploring the Possibility of 

Electrical Power Distribution

Nevada County LAFCo Meeting

NOVEMBER 21, 2019



Key Benefits:  

Local Electric Power

Distribution Utility

 Local representation (and control) of retail policies and practices

 Access to locally elected policy-makers
◦ Improved customer service
◦ Increased reliability of service

 Reduction of utility revenue leakage from local economy

 Not-for-Profit

 Investment of utility revenues into local electric system 
infrastructure

 Lower Rates on Average



Timeline
NID Exploration of Public Power



The Grid
Major components of electric system



Recent PSPS
Wholesale power shutoff

Absent local factors

Oct. 2019 PSPS



Capital Improvements
Distribution System Smart Node
Function

◦ Isolation or Shut-off of Localized 
Service Area Section

◦ Active Sensor 

◦ Feedback to Substation and Control 
Center

◦ Real-time Remote Control (on/off)

◦ Automatic Protection Controls

Purposes
◦ Active Protection (falling tree, 

downed pole, lightning strike, fire)

◦ Precautionary shut-down (localized 
meteorological conditions)

Criteria for Placement (in priority rank)

◦ Terrain Features (vegetation, 
access, ridges, canyons, etc.)

◦ Hospital/Critical Care Facilities

◦ First Responders (Police, Fire)

◦ Government Facilities

◦ Schools

◦ Commercial Centers & Corridors

◦ Gas Stations & Convenience Stores

◦ HOAs and Suburban 
Neighborhoods 

◦ Residential Meter Count



Distribution System Smart Node

Components
◦ Pole-mounted monitoring and 

protective systems
◦ Battery backup
◦ Fiber-optic lines proposed for 

communication

Additional benefits of Smart Node 
System Network

◦ Faster pin-point response to system 
faults

◦ Fewer customers out of service 
during fault

◦ Additional capacity on fiber bundle 
for other data providers (internet, 
cellular, government 
communications)



Smart 
Node 

Placement 
Example

Brunswick Substation
◦ Seven (7) Distribution 

Systems

◦ Serves two cities

◦ Commercial centers

◦ Suburban and remote 
rural areas



Smart 
Node 

Placement 
Example

Brunswick 1103 System
◦ City of Nevada City

◦ Commercial Corridor

◦ Downtown

◦ Schools

◦ County Government 
Center

◦ First Responders

◦ Remote Rural Areas



Brunswick 1103 
System

Proposed Smart 
Node Locations

Smart 
Node 

Placement 
Example



Smart Node 
Placement 
Example

Brunswick 1103 System

Ability to isolate rural areas 
(all or portions)

Maintain service to:
◦ Downtown & Commercial 

Corridor

◦ City Hall

◦ County Government Center

◦ Schools

◦ First Responder Stations

◦ Highway Corridor



Near Term System Upgrades
Covered Conductor

oUsed since 1970s

oPopular in forested areas –
Scandinavia, the U.K., and 
New England

oBeing installed in Australia 
to reduce “brushfires” 

oSimilar cost to bare 
conductor ($430k vs. $300k 
per mile)



Logical Service Area
Local Communities

12/11/19:
Public Hearing / Resolution of Application

LAFCo (Local Agency Formation Commission)
◦ MSR Municipal Service Review

◦ Fiscal Feasibility Study
◦ Risk Feasibility Study

◦ Activate Latent Powers
◦ Amend SOI Sphere of Influence

Vote of the Public
Annexation of Parcels



Comparable Offers

Agency
Approximate 

Number of 
Connections

Offer
Cost/ 

Customer

San Francisco Public Utilities 
Commission

375,000 $ 2,500,000,000 $     6,667 

Valley Clean Energy 75,000 $     300,000,000 $  4,000 

Nevada Irrigation District 85,000 $     300,196,900 $  3,532 

South San Joaquin Irrigation 
District

40,000 $     115,995,500 $   2,900 



Thank You / Questions

More information:
https://nidwater.com/local-power-solutions/

https://nidwater.com/local-power-solutions/


Nevada LAFCo 
Staff Report – January 16, 2020 

4.2  Business 
County Sanitation District:  Higgins Marketplace 

County Sanitation District, Lake of the Pines Zone—Annexation: Higgins Marketplace 
Summary 
An application for annexation of approximately 9.66 acres to the County Sanitation District 
(Lake of the Pines Zone) has been submitted by the developer of the Higgins Marketplace 
project on behalf of the landowner.  The Higgins Marketplace project was approved by the 
County in 2010, and includes construction of a shopping center that will include a large retail 
grocery store, two buildings which would house numerous retail shops and two fast food 
restaurants.  The area is located in the Higgins area, south of the Highway 49/Combie Road 
intersection.   

The County Sanitation District has reviewed the request of the developers for annexation and 
connection of the project to the Lake of the Pines sewer system.  The District has provided a will 
serve letter and plan for providing service to the shopping center.   

A map showing the area subject to annexation is included herein as Attachment 1.  A vicinity 
map showing County Sanitation District boundaries and sphere of influence is included as 
Attachment 2.  The Plan for Service and Will Serve letter prepared by the County Sanitation 
District is provided as Attachment 3.   

Recommendation 
Staff makes the following recommendations for Commission action: 

1. Make appropriate California Environmental Quality Act Findings:

a. Find that Nevada County LAFCo is a responsible agency with respect to CEQA
for this proposal;

b. Find that the Final Environmental Impact Report (SCH 2006112097) prepared and
certified by the County of Nevada for the Higgins Marketplace development and
related development entitlements is adequate and complete;

c. Find that the Commission has considererd the information contained in the Final
Environmental Impact Report and the Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Plan
prior to its action on the proposal;

d. Find that on the basis of the Final Environmental Impact Report and the
Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Plan that no supplemental environmental
document is necessary for consideration of the proposal;

e. Adopt the Findings of Fact and Statement of Overriding Considerations prepared
by the County for the Higgins Marketplace development.

f. Direct staff to prepare and file a Notice of Determination.

2. Recommended Actions on the Proposal:

a. Determine that the proposal complies with the Commission’s adopted Policies for
annexations.  Recommended determinations are included in this staff report.

b. Adopt Draft Resolution 20-01, which incorporates recommended determinations,
findings, and conditions of approval of the annexation of the subject territory.

Draft Resolution 20-01 (Attachment 6) incorporates LAFCo staff’s recommended conditions of 
approval and the required CEQA findings prepared by the Lead Agency.   



Staff Report – January 16, 2020 
County Sanitation District:  Higgins Marketplace 

2 

Suggested motion:  
• Adopt proposed Resolution No. 20-01, approving the proposal, subject to terms and 

conditions set forth in the resolution. 

Proposal and History 
The Higgins Marketplace project is located south of the Combie Road intersection with Highway 
49 on the east side of the highway.  The project area is south of the Higgins Village shopping 
center, which was annexed to the County Sanitation District in 2003.  The Higgins Marketplace 
project was approved by the County in 2010; the project included a General Plan amendment, re-
zoning, tentative parcel map, use permit and management plan.  The County’s review included 
preparation of an Environmental Impact Report, (Draft and Final EIRs have been provided 
electronically for this staff report as Attachments 4 and 5).   

The parcel map created seven parcels which are zoned for commercial, business park, office and 
open space uses.  Four of the parcels (totaling 9.68 acres) which constitute the proposed 
annexation area are being developed, providing for a 35,000 square foot retail grocery store, two 
retail buildings with shops, two fast-food restaurants and several parking areas.  A remaining 
parcel of 4.22 acres is located adjacent to the highway and is designed to protect an existing 
wetland area; this parcel is not proposed for annexation.   

In addition, two other parcels (one to the east of the annexation area and one to the south) were 
created in conjunction with the parcel map, but they are not part of the Higgins Marketplace 
development and are also not included in the annexation proposal.   

The development proposal was initially filed with the County in 2004, with the Environmental 
Impact Report being completed in 2008.  Following several project revisions and appeals, the 
County Board of Supervisors approved the General Plan Amendment and took other associated 
actions in 2009.  The project was subject to litigation, with the Court of Appeal upholding the 
Superior Court decision to uphold the County’s approval.   

The County’s approval included adoption of a Mitigation Monitoring Plan, Findings of Fact, and 
a Statement of Overriding Consideration.  The project conditions of approval included 
connection of the project to the County Sanitation District for wastewater service.   

The project area and surrounding lands are known as the Higgins Corner area, and the County 
has prepared an area plan for the 250 acre area.  The Higgins Area Plan provides design 
guidelines and specifies plans for public water and sewer service for future development.  The 
Higgins Area Plan is available on the County’s website, and has also been included in the 
Dropbox file for this project.  

Relationship to Other Projects 
The area along Combie Road is generally developed with commercial and office uses.  The 
Higgins Village Shopping Center, approved by the County in 2003, is located to the north of 
the project area.  The Higgins Village shopping center is not connected to the Lake of the 
Pines Wastewater Treatment Plant, since at the time of construction the WWTP lacked 
sufficient capacity to serve the project.  Instead, the Higgins Village project uses a land-
based STEP system which involves flows from the shopping center being discharged on a 
neighboring parcel.  This arrangement was intended to be a temporary measure until 
capacity at the LOP WWTP became available.  Note that even though sufficient capacity is 
now available at the regional treatment plant, the shopping center has not been connected 



Staff Report – January 16, 2020 
County Sanitation District:  Higgins Marketplace 

3 

and continues to discharge to the land based system on an adjacent parcel.  Now that the 
infrastructure is in place (to accommodate the Higgins Marketplace project), the District will 
be pursuing the connection of the Higgins Village Zone to the LOP Zone and the 
decommissioning of the Higgins Village WWTP.  This process will require a prop 218 
process due to its effect on the customers O&M and Capital Improvement costs. 

Another project in the area is the Rincon del Rio retirement community, which was annexed 
into the District in 2013, but has not yet been developed.  Note that the Rincon del Rio 
developer recently applied to the County for some modifications to the project’s 
Comprehensive Master Plan, but these modifications are not expected to impact the project’s 
wastewater requirements.   

It should also be noted that the Commission will be completing the update of the County 
Sanitation District sphere of influence,pending completion of environmental review 
(tentatively anticipated in early 2020).  The subject territory is located within the district’s 
sphere of influence at present and would also be located in the sphere under the proposed 
sphere plan update.    

Service Issues 
Wastewater:  The County Sanitation District provides wastewater collection, treatment 
and disposal.  District staff has issued a Will Serve letter and prepared a Plan for 
Service, indicating that connection of the property is feasible, and that the wastewater 
treatment plant has sufficient capacity to accommodate the connection.  The cost of the 
connection infrastructure will be the sole responsibility of the developer.  

The District’s wastewater treatment plant (WWTP) is located along Combie Road, just 
outside the Lake of the Pines community.  According to the 2015 LAFCo Municipal 
Service Review of Western Nevada County Wastewater Services, the WWTP was last 
upgraded in 2008 and has a plant design flow of 0.72 MGD, with a present average dry 
weather flow of 0.523 MGD. The WWTP is a tertiary treatment plant that discharges 
into Magnolia Creek under the Central Valley Regional Water Quality Control Board 
Waste Discharge Requirements Order R5-2015-0028.  Dewatered solids are hauled 
offsite to the McCourtney Road transfer station.     

The WWTP serves over 2,090 sewer connections (80 of which are commercial and the 
remainder residential) and has unused capacity to accommodate nearly 600 more.  
Future projects that would be treated at the WWTP include the Rincon del Rio 
development (280 EDUs).  The District also plans to connect the 48 EDU Higgins 
Village shopping center to the LOP treatment plant, which will involve 
decommissioning the treatment facility that was constructed to serve the shopping center 
on a temporary basis.     

Water:  The project is located within Nevada Irrigation District boundaries, and the 
District anticipates providing treated water service to the shopping center (although NID 
has not provided an official will serve letter).  The developer has installed treated water 
infrastructure to connect to the District’s Lake of the Pines water treatment plant, located 
at 12812 Torrey Pines Drive.  The water treatment plant currently has a capacity of 5 
MGD, and currently serves 2,338 connections.  NID plans to extend the 10 inch water 
line that now serves the Higgins Village shopping center along Higgins Road to the new 



Staff Report – January 16, 2020 
County Sanitation District:  Higgins Marketplace 

4 

project.  The water line will provide adequate fire flow to meet the requirements 
specified by the Higgins Fire Protection District.   

Road Maintenance and Traffic Circulation: The main access point for the shopping 
center will be off Combie Road via the Higgins Road intersection. There will also be 
limited access from Highway 49 at the Woodridge Road intersection (northbound 
Highway 49 traffic will be able to turn right onto Woodridge, and cars exiting the center 
on Woodridge will be able to travel north).  Required project improvements include 
widening of Combie Road and Woodridge Drive, as well as placement of a traffic signal 
at the intersection of the two roads.  Funding for maintenance of improvements and a 
share of the cost  of maintaining the traffic signal shall be funded by the property owners 
through a Permanent Road Division created in 2018.   

Fire Protection and Rescue:  The territory is within the boundaries of the Higgins Area 
Fire Protection District.  Response to the shopping center will generally be from the 
nearby Station No. 21 at 10106 Combie Road, which is staffed 24/7.  The District’s 
requirements for vegetative fuels management and fire flow have been incorporated into 
the County’s Conditions of Approval for the project (fire flow issues are also discussed 
above in the section on water service).   

Boundary 
The boundaries of the annexation area are definite and certain, and include only the four lots 
(parcels 1-4) on which the shopping center will be constructucted.  Parcel 5 is occupied by 
wetlands (note that the County’s conditions of approval provide for the creation of a wetland 
reserve and preparation of a Wetland-Riparian Habitat Mitigation Plan) and is therefore not 
proposed for annexation.  Parcels 6 and 7 are not a part of the Higgins Marketplace project and 
are also not included in this annexation proposal.    

Timely Availability of Water Supplies 
The Nevada Irrigation District has provided documentation indicating sufficient availability of 
water needed for domestic purposes. The District’s documentation is consistent with the LAFCo 
Municipal Service Review on Water Services and the Nevada Irrigation District Sphere of 
Influence Plan.  

Disadvantaged Unincorporated Communities 
The Higgins Corner/Lake of the Pines area is not considered by the County to be a 
Disadvantaged Unincorporated Community. 
The Commission’s policies recognize any Disadvantaged Unincorporated Community that have 
been identified by the County or any city.  The County recognizes five Disadvantaged 
Unincorporated Communities (Penn Valley, Rough and Ready, North San Juan, Washington and 
Soda Springs), none of which are in the immediate vicinity of this project.    
Regional Supply of Housing 
The Commission is required by Government Code § 56668 (l) to consider “the extent to which 
the proposal will affect a city or cities and the county in achieving their respective fair shares of 
the regional housing needs as determined by the appropriate council of governments consistent 
with Article 10.6 (commencing with Section 65580) of Chapter 3 of Division 1 of Title 7.”  This 
section is specifically in reference to the Regional Housing Need Allocation (RHNA) targets that 
are developed by the State Department of Housing and Community Development, and then 



Staff Report – January 16, 2020 
County Sanitation District:  Higgins Marketplace 

5 

allocated locally to cities and counties for inclusion into their Housing Elements.  The project 
itself will not result in any new residential development, and will have no impact on the 
County’s achievement of its housing goals.   

Environmental Justice 
“Environmental Justice” is defined as the fair treatment of people of all races, cultures, and 
incomes with respect to the location of public facilities and provision of services.  A review of 
census data does not reveal concentration of any specific racial, cultural or income group in the 
area.  

California Environmental Quality Act Compliance 
The County, as Lead Agency, prepared and certified an Environmental Impact Report for the 
project (Attachments 4 and 5, which have been provided electronically, include both the Draft 
and Final EIRs).  The County’s environmental findings and the comprehensive set of Mitigation 
Measures have been included in the draft resolution (Attachment 6).  The County Sanitation 
District and LAFCo are considered Responsible Agencies for the proposal and are required to 
utilize the County’s environmental document in the absence of specific circumstances under 
CEQA as set forth in § 15052 of the State CEQA Guidelines.   

If the Commission determines to approve the proposed annexation, it will also need to certify the 
EIR and adopt Findings of Fact, Statement of Overriding Considerations, and the County’s 
Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Plan.  The draft resolution included in this report includes 
the appropriate determinations and findings.   

Governing Law and LAFCo Policy 
Generally, Government Code §56000 et seq. governs proceedings.  A public hearing has been 
scheduled as the annexation includes inhabited territory (i.e., more than twelve registered voters 
reside within the annexation area), even though the proposal enjoys written support from both 
property owners.   

The annexation appears to be in compliance with legal and policy requirements, as summarized 
below.   

Statutory Requirements 
Factors to be considered in the review of a proposal shall include, but not be limited to, all of the 
following provisions of Section 56668 of the Government Code: 
 
(a) Population, and population density; land area and land use; per capita assessed 

valuation; topography, natural boundaries, and drainage basins; proximity to other 
populated areas; the likelihood of significant growth in the area, and in adjacent 
incorporated and unincorporated areas, during the next 10 years. 

Population, density, and proximity to other populated areas, as well as the likelihood 
of significant growth in the subject area, are discussed by the County General Plan, 
which designates the shopping center property as Community Commercial.  Elevation 
is approximately 1,400 feet.  Ragsdale  Creek is located to the immediate north of the 
project area.      



Staff Report – January 16, 2020 
County Sanitation District:  Higgins Marketplace 

6 

(b) The need for organized community services; the present cost and adequacy of 
governmental services and controls in the area; probable future needs for those 
services and controls; probable effect of the proposed incorporation, formation, 
annexation, or exclusion and of alternative courses of action on the cost and 
adequacy of services and controls in the area and adjacent areas.  “Services” refers 
to governmental services whether or not the services are services which would be 
provided by local agencies subject to LAFCo law, and includes the public facilities 
necessary to provide those services. 

The area is within the Higgins Fire District and is also within the Nevada Irrigation 
District.  The territory is within the sphere of influence of the Lake of the Pines zone of 
the County Sanitation District, and is adjacent to the Higgins Village zone.  Public 
sewer service can be made available upon annexation and connection to the system.    

(c) The effect of the proposed action and of alternative actions, on adjacent areas, on 
mutual social and economic interests, and on the local governmental structure of the 
county. 

The proposed annexation will support provision of public sewer service to the 
shopping center, which is a condition of approval of the project.   

(d) The conformity of both the proposal and its anticipated effects with both adopted 
Commission policies on providing planned, orderly, and efficient patterns of urban 
development, and with the policies and priorities set forth in GC Section 56377. 

Consistency with adopted LAFCo policies is addressed in a subsequent section of this 
report.   

(e) The effect of the proposal on maintaining the physical and economic integrity of 
agricultural lands, as defined by Section 56016. 

No agricultural lands meeting the definition established by § 56016 are involved in the 
proposal, and no agricultural uses are associated with the subject territory.  The 
subject territory and surrounding area is currently zoned and used variously for 
residential and commercial uses.  The proposed annexation will have no impact on the 
physical and economic integrity of any agricultural lands. 

(f) The definiteness and certainty of the boundaries of the territory, the 
nonconformance of proposed boundaries with lines of assessment or ownership, the 
creation of islands or corridors of unincorporated territory, and other similar 
matters affecting the proposed boundaries. 

The area proposed for annexation includes four subject parcels in their entirety.   
(g) A regional transportation plan adopted pursuant to GC Section 65080. 

The project’s impacts to existing traffic circulation patterns and levels have been 
analyzed for consistency with the Regional Transportation Plan in effect during the 
EIR preparation.  Appropriate measures to address adverse impacts have been 
incorporated into the project’s conditions of approval.    

(h) The proposal’s consistency with city or county general and specific plans. 
County General Plan and zoning designations have been assigned by the County in 
conjunction with the approval process for the project.   



Staff Report – January 16, 2020 
County Sanitation District:  Higgins Marketplace 

7 

(i) The sphere of influence of any local agency which may be applicable to the proposal 
being reviewed. 

The subject territory is within the sphere of influence of the County Sanitation District.    
(j) The comments of any affected local agency or other public agency. 

The District has provided a will serve letter indicating willingness and capacity for 
service, with recommended conditions of approval for the annexation.  No agency has 
provided comments indicating opposition to the proposal. 

(k) The ability of the newly formed or receiving entity to provide to the area the services 
which are the subject of the application, including the sufficiency of revenues for 
those services following the proposed boundary change. 

The District’s Lake of the Pines wastewater treatment plant has capacity to 
accommodate the development.  The cost of connecting the development to the 
District’s existing wastewater collection systems are the responsibility of the applicant.  
The District’s operational and administrative costs are incorporated into the District’s 
rate structure and are collected through the property tax roll.    

(l) Timely availability of water supplies adequate for projected needs as specified in GC 
Section 65352.5 

As discussed in this report, Nevada Irrigation District will provide treated water 
service for the project using the District’s Lake of the Pines water treatment plant.   

(m) The extent to which the proposal will affect a city or cities and the county in 
achieving their respective fair shares of the regional housing needs as determined by 
the appropriate council of governments consistent with Article 10.6 (commencing 
with section 65580) of Chapter 3 of Division 1 of Title 7. 

The proposed annexation will have no adverse impact on the County’s ability to 
achieve its fair share of regional housing needs, and may have a beneficial impact by 
ensuring continued stability for provision of sewer service to the mobile home park  

(n) Any information or comments from the landowner or owners, voters, or residents of 
the affected territory. 

No comments have been received by LAFCo from landowners, voters or residents of 
the affected territory.     

(o) Any information relating to existing land use designations. 
Land use designations for the area are described below in the Technical Factors of 
Consideration section of this report.   

(p) The extent to which the proposal will promote environmental justice. As used in this 
subdivision, "environmental justice" means the fair treatment of people of all races, 
cultures, and incomes with respect to the location of public facilities and the 
provision of public services. 

There are no concentrations of any specific racial, cultural or income groups in the 
area.   

 
Section 56668.3 (a) establishes additional factors of consideration for proposals involving district 
annexations: 



Staff Report – January 16, 2020 
County Sanitation District:  Higgins Marketplace 

8 

1. Whether the proposed annexation will be for the interest of the landowners or 
present or future inhabitants within the district and within the territory proposed to 
be annexed. 

The annexation of the subject territory will benefit current and future landowners by 
ensuring provision of sewer service.  Present and future inhabitants of the district will 
also benefit in that the service costs will be spread over a larger rate base.   

2. Any resolution raising objections that was filed by an affected agency. 
No resolutions of objection to the proposal have been filed with LAFCo.   

 
Commission Policy 

Applicable Commission policies include General Policies, as well as specific policies for spheres 
of influence and for district annexations. 

GENERAL POLICIES (SECTION II of the Commission’s Policies) 
A. Communication between local agencies is encouraged. Consistent 
B. Urban development proposals shall include annexation to a city where 

possible. 
Consistent 

Annexation to a city is not possible, given the project location..    
C. LAFCo will normally deny proposals that result in urban sprawl. Consistent 

This proposal will not result in urban sprawl as characterized by LAFCo policy.    
D. Environmental consequences (CEQA) shall be considered. Consistent 

The County, as Lead Agency for the Higgins Marketplace development project, has 
prepared and certified an EIR, adopted findings, a mitigation monitoring plan, and a 
statement of overriding consideration.  

E. LAFCo will consider the impact of a proposal on the regional supply of 
housing for all income levels. 

Consistent 

This project involves no residential uses and will have little to no effect on the regional 
housing supply.    

F. LAFCo will favor proposals that promote compact urban form and 
infill development. 

Consistent 

This proposal will result in the development of a retail shopping center, located in the 
vicinity of similar uses.  However, the location of the project would not necessarily be 
characterized as infill.    

G. Government structure should be simple, accessible, and accountable. Consistent 
H. Agencies must provide documentation that they can provide service 

within a reasonable period of time. 
Consistent 

The County Sanitation District has provided documentation that it can provide the 
required services. Other service providers have also provided documentation 
regarding their ability to serve the project   



Staff Report – January 16, 2020 
County Sanitation District:  Higgins Marketplace 

9 

I. Efficient services are obtained when proposals: 
a. Utilize existing public agencies. 
b. Consolidate activities and services.  
c. Restructure agency boundaries to provide more logical, effective, 

and efficient services. 

Consistent 

J. Adverse impacts on adjacent areas, social and economic interests and 
the local government structure must be mitigated. 

The County’s environmental report indicates that the project’s adverse 
environmental impacts have been mitigated to the extent possible and the 
County has adopted a Statement of Overriding Consideration justifying 
the remaining unmitigated imipacts.   

Consistent 

K. Conformance with general and specific plans required. Consistent 
The project, which required a General Plan amendment, is now consistent with the 
County’s General Plan.  

L. Boundaries: 
a. Definite boundaries are required.  
b. Boundaries that are favored: 

• Create logical boundaries & eliminate islands or illogical 
boundaries. 

• Follow natural or man-made features and include logical service 
areas. 

c.  Boundaries that are disfavored: 
• Split neighborhoods or communities. 
• Result in islands, corridors, or peninsulas. 
• Are drawn for the primary purpose of encompassing revenue- 

producing territories. 
• Create areas where it is difficult to provide services. 

Consistent 

M. Revenue neutrality is required for all proposals. Consistent 
N. PrimeAgricultural and Open Space Land conservation standards are: 

a. The proposal must lead to planned, orderly and efficient 
development. 

b. An approved Sphere of Influence Plan is required. 
c. Findings with respect to alternative sites are required. 
d. Impact on adjacent agricultural/open space lands must be assessed. 

Not 
Applicable 

This proposal does not involve Prime Agricultural or Open Space lands. 
O. Need for services must be established, and exists when: 

a. A public health and safety threat exists. 
b. The residents have requested extension of non-growth-inducing 

community services. 
c. The subject area is likely to be developed for urban use within 5 

years. 

Consistent 



Staff Report – January 16, 2020 
County Sanitation District:  Higgins Marketplace 

10 

P. Disadvantaged Unincorporated Communities will be identified and 
addressed as required. 

Consistent 

The subject territory is not recognized as a Disadvantaged Unincorporated 
Community.     

Q. Exceptions are justified on the following grounds: 
a. Unique 
b. Standards conflicts 
c. Quality/Cost 
d. No alternative is available 

Not 
Applicable 

 
ANNEXATION POLICIES—GENERAL STANDARDS  (SECTION IV) 

1. Proposals must be consistent with LAFCo general policies. Consistent 
2. A proposal must be consistent with the agency’s Sphere Plan. Consistent 
3. A Plan for Services is required. Consistent 
4. The subject territory must be contiguous to the agency’s boundaries if 

required by law or if necessary for efficient service delivery. 
Not 
Applicable 

Although not contiguous to district boundaries, the subject territory is within the 
district sphere, and connection infrastructure is nearby.  Note that contiguity is 
not required by the district’s principal act.   

5. Piecemeal annexations are prohibited. Consistent 
6. Annexations to eliminate islands are encouraged and normally are 

approved. 
Not 
Applicable 

7. Annexations that create islands are discouraged and normally are not 
approved. 

Consistent 

8. Full service array is considered: proposals that facilitate the delivery of 
one or a few services to the detriment of the delivery of a larger number 
of services are not favored. 

Consistent 

9. Adverse impact of annexation on other agencies or service recipients is 
cause for denial. 

Not 
applicable 

10. Action options include: 
• Approval  
• Conditional approval to maximize the efficiency of service and meet 

other policy objectives 
• Denial 

 

Comments from the Public and from Affected Agencies 
No unfavorable comments have been received from any of the affected agencies or from 
neighboring landowners or voters.  

Final Steps 
Following the public hearing, the Commission may approve, conditionally approve or deny the 
proposal.  Should the Commission determine to approve the proposal, conditionally or 
unconditionally, LAFCo law provides for the following two processes prior to the completion of 
the annexation: 



Staff Report – January 16, 2020 
County Sanitation District:  Higgins Marketplace 

11 

Reconsideration: When the Commission adopts a resolution making determinations, 
within 30 days, any person or affected agency may file a request for an amendment or 
reconsideration of the resolution.  The request must state the specific modification being 
requested and must state the new or different facts that could not have been presented 
previously which warrant the Commission’s reconsideration.   

Protest Hearing:  California Government Code §57002 requires that within 35 days 
following the adoption of the Commission’s resolution approving the annexation, the 
LAFCo Executive Officer shall set the proposal for a protest hearing and give notice of 
that hearing. If written protests are submitted by at least 25% of the registered voters 
within the annexation area, or by 25% of the landowners who control 25% of the entire 
assessed value of property within the annexation area, the annexation would be subject 
to an election.  However, the Commission may waive the protest hearing under the 
following circumstances: 

1. Mailed notice of the proposal hearing has been provided to the voters and 
landowners the affected territory,  

2. The mailed notice discloses that unless written opposition to the proposal is 
received before the conclusion of the commission proceedings, the commission 
intends to waive protest proceedings, 

3. The notice discloses the potential for the extension or continuation of any 
previously authorized charge, fee, assessment or tax, and 

4. No written opposition by voters or property owners has been received before the 
conclusion of the Commission’s proceedings.   

For this proposal, mailed notice of the hearing was sent to landowners (there are no voters) 
within the annexation area and it disclosed that the District’s sewer charges would extend to the 
area.  The notice also disclosed that the Commission intends to waive the final protest hearing.  
If by the end of the hearing no written objections have been presented, the Commission may 
waive the protest hearing.   

Remarks and Conclusion 
This commercial development project was comprehensively reviewed by the County and 
received the scrutiny of interested members of the Higgins area community. The public agencies 
who would be service providers and therefore most immediately impacted participated in the 
County’s environmental and permitting process.  The project has not been without controversy, 
as evidenced by the appeal and subsequent litigation; however, as pointed out above, no letters of 
opposition to the annexation have been received by LAFCo to date.  The County Sanitation 
District has provided documentation of its ability to provide services to the project; the Nevada 
Irrigation District has also provided documentation of its abililty to provide sufficient and 
sustainable water service to the project.  Impacts on the local government structure and services 
have been mitigated or avoided.   

Staff recommends that the Commission approve the proposed annexation by adopting draft 
Resolution 20-01 (Attachment 6).  



Staff Report – January 16, 2020 
County Sanitation District:  Higgins Marketplace 

12 

Technical Factors of Consideration 
Location: 
The subject territory is located in the Higgins area, near the intersection of Highway 49 and 
Combie Road.   
Population: 
There are fewer than 12 registered voters residing within the territory, qualifying it as 
uninhabited. 
Assessed Value and Property Tax Apportionment: 
The taxable value on the 2019-2020 Assessment Roll: 

Taxable Value - Land: 42,724 
Taxable Value - Improvements: 0 
Homeowner's & Other Exemptions: 0 
Personal Property & Fixtures: 0 
Total Taxable Value Less Exemptions: 42,724 

The County Sanitation District is an enterprise district that receives no revenue from property 
tax.  As per the Master Tax Sharing Formula in effect for annexations by special districts (as 
set forth in BOS Resolution 06-162) there will be no re-apportionment of property tax within 
the subject territory.   
Land Use, General Plan, Development Potential: 
The County’s General Plan designations include Community Commercial, Business Park, 
Open Space and Office and Professional for the project area.  Zoning categories include 
Community Commercial, Office and Professional, Business Park, Open Space, all with 
Scenic Corridor and Site Performance overlay zoning.   
The annexation of this site to the County Sanitation District is required to provide sewer 
collection and treatment service, which is critical to the development of the subject territory.   
Utilities and Services: 

Service Present Provider Proposed Provider 
Fire Protection Higgins FPD no change 
Police Protection Nevada County Sheriff no change 
Domestic Water Nevada Irrigation District no change 
Agricultural Water Nevada Irrigation District no change 
Public Sewer None County Sanitation Dist. 
Solid Waste County no change 
Road/Street Maintenance County no change 
Snow Removal County no change 
Power PG & E no change 
Street Lighting Private no change 
Land Use Authority County no change 
Schools Pleasant Ridge; Nevada Union no change 
Recreation Bear River Rec. District no change 

CC:   Mr.Russ King, King Engineering, Landowner Representative 
 Mr. Steve Kirkpatrick, Landowner/Developer 
 Mr. Fred Katz, Landowner/Developer  
 Mr. Brad Torres, Wastewater Operations Manager, County Sanitation District 



Staff Report – January 16, 2020 
County Sanitation District:  Higgins Marketplace 

13 

1 Annexation Map 
2 Vicinity Display Map showing Sanitation District Boundaries 
3 Plan for Service and Justification Statement 
4 Draft EIR, provided digitally 
5 Final EIR, provided digitally 
6 Draft LAFCo Resolution 20-01 



Attachment 1



ÃÃ49

Wolf Road

Combie
Road

MagnoliaRoad

Combie
Road

Darkhorse

Drive

Magnolia
Road

Da
rkh

orse

Dr
iveWolf

R o ad

Magnolia Road

Brewer
Road

Combie
Road

C ombie
Road

Bear River

Wolf Creek

Portions of this parcel
 proposed for annexation

Sanitation District Zones
DARK HORSE
HIGGINS VILLAGE
LAKE OF THE PINES
LAKE OF THE PINES SPHERE
RINCON DEL RIO

Attachment 2



NEVADA SANITATION DISTRICT – PLAN FOR SERVICES 
ANNEXATION TO NEVADA COUNTY SANITATION DISTRICT NO. 1 

(APN 057-260-017) 

The Nevada County Sanitation District No. 1 will provide services to the 
subject territory as outlined below. The subject territory consists of 7 legal parcels 
with a project area totaling approximately 20.07 acres, located on Woodridge Dr. 
and State Route 49 Auburn CA. The design value per EDU in Sanitation District 
No. 1 is 196 gallons per day for average dry weather flow. 

1. An enumeration and description of the services to be extended to the affected
territory.

The District will provide sewer collection and treatment service to support the
above-referenced APN. The 7 legal parcel area is owned by:

Fred and Cathy Katz  – APN 057-260-017
This parcel will consist of a commercial shopping center located on
approximately 20.07 acres. Currently, the parcel is undeveloped.

Based on average daily water usage estimates provided in the developer Sewer
Report, this parcel will require sixty five (65) EDUs for its current and future use.

2. The level and range of those services.

The services would be extended to the nearest public easement at the same level
and range as provided throughout the Nevada County Sanitation District No. 1.

3. An indication of when those services can feasibly be extended to the affected
territory.

Wastewater services provided by Nevada County Sanitation District No. 1 have
been extended along Combie Road, in close proximity to the subject territory.
Those services are complete and connection is now possible and available.

Attachment 3



 

4. An indication of any improvement or upgrading of structures, roads, sewer or water 
facilities, or other conditions the local agency would impose or require within the 
affected territory if the change of organization or reorganization is completed. 

The existing Lake of the Pines Treatment Plant has sufficient capacity for the 
subject property. No additional improvements to roads or facilities are 
anticipated with the exception of connecting the subject property to the future 
sewer mainline proposed in the neighboring property along Combie Road, and 
what was included in the conditions of approval in the infrastructure 
Reimbursement Agreement.   

 
 

5. Information with respect to how each of those services will be financed. 

The property owner(s) are responsible for the cost of the design, construction, and 
installation of conveyance facilities necessary to tie into the future sewer main to 
be constructed within Combie Road, in addition to permit and connection fees, 
and ongoing O&M fees as established by NCSD No. 1.  



Printed on Recycled Paper 

 

           
             
              
 
 
January 6, 2020                
 
 
Mr. Frank Katz 
 
 
 
APN 057-141-031 
 
SUBJECT: Will Serve Letter and Annexation Procedure for Assessor’s Parcel Number 

057-260-017 into Nevada County Sanitation District No. 1, Lake of the Pines, 
Zone 2 

 
Dear Mr. Katz:  
 
Nevada County Sanitation District does have sufficient capacity in the Lake of the Pines Zone to 
accommodate an annexation request for parcel number 057-260-017 which will consist of 
primarily light commercial use as a real estate office and small church.  

 
Prior to connection, the following conditions will have to be met: 
 

1. It is the property owner’s responsibility to acquire ALL the necessary permits and 
permissions and to install the infrastructure to facilitate capture and conveyance of 
sewerage from the buildings to the mainline connection point at the Sanitation 
District force main.  
 

2. In order for the Sanitation District to provide future sewer service to Assessor’s 
Parcel Number 057-260-017 located on Woodridge Rd., it will be necessary for said 
parcels to annex into Nevada County Sanitation District No. 1, Lake of the Pines, 
Zone 2, and acquire sewer capacity.  In this case, parcel 057-260-017 would need to 
acquire up to 65 EDUs at the time of connection. Annexation will require 
conformance to California Environmental Quality Act. 

 
3. Any change in use plans for the property will be reviewed and approved by The 

Sanitation District prior to construction/installation.  
 

4. After installation is completed and approved; the Sanitation District will only be 
responsible to maintain the portion of infrastructure consisting of the holding tanks, 
out to and including the collector force main.    

 

NEVADA COUNTY SANITATION DISTRICT NO. 1 
950 MAIDU AVENUE, NEVADA CITY, CA 95959-8617 
(530)  265-1411  FAX (530)  265-9849  www.mynevadacounty .co m   

Sean Powers 
Deputy District Administrator 

 
 
 
 
    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Trisha Tillotson 
Director of Public Works 

 

http://www.mynevadacounty.com/




Resolution 20-01 
Nevada LAFCo 

Resolution 20-01 of the 
L o c a l  A g e n c y  F o r m a t i o n  C o m m i s s i o n 

of Nevada County, California 

RESOLUTION OF THE NEVADA COUNTY LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION 
COMMISSION CONSIDERING THE FINAL ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT REPORT (SCH 

# 2006112097), ADOPTING ENVIRONMENTAL FINDINGS PURSUANT TO THE 
CALIFORNIA ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY ACT, ADOPTING A STATEMENT OF 

OVERRIDING CONSIDERATIONS, ADOPTING THE MITIGATION MONITORING AND 
REPORTING PROGRAM PREPARED AND ADOPTED BY THE COUNTY OF NEVADA  

and  
APPROVING ANNEXATION OF THE HIGGINS MARKETPLACE DEVELOPMENT PROJECT 

TO THE COUNTY SANITATION DISTRICT  

WHEREAS, a petition and application for the annexation to the Nevada County Sanitation 
District of certain territory in Nevada County known as Assessor Parcel Numbers 057-260-019, 
057-260-020, 057-260-023 and 057-260-024 was filed by the owner of the property with the 
Executive Officer of the Local Agency Formation Commission of Nevada County, California, 
and said petition complied with all the requirements of law and the Commission and was 
accompanied by written consent of 100% of the property owners of the subject territory; 

WHEREAS, the proceedings for this reorganization are governed by the Cortese-Knox- 
Hertzberg Local Government Reorganization Act, Section 56000 et seq. of the Government 
Code; and, 

WHEREAS, the annexation is requested in order to provide public sewer collection, treatment 
and disposal service to a development project referred to as Higgins Marketplace, a shopping 
center consisting of retail stores and shops, restaurants and various common facilities located on 
the subject territory consisting of 9.68 acres located off Highway 49 at Woodridge Drive and 
Higgins Road in Nevada County; and 

WHEREAS, the County of Nevada, as the Lead Agency, prepared and certified an 
Environmental Impact Report for the Higgins Marketplace development project, as well as 
Findings of Fact, Statement of Overriding Considerations, and a Mitigation Monitoring and 
Reporting Plan; and, 

WHEREAS, on April 13, 2010, the County of Nevada (1) certified the environmental impact 
report for the project, (2) approved an amendment of the County General Plan, (3) adopted 
zoning designations for the project site, (4) adopted a Management Plan for the project, (5) 
approved the Tentative Final Subdivision Map and (6) approved a Use Permit to establish a 
Comprehensive Master Plan for the entire site; and, 

WHEREAS, on October 7, 2019, the  project developer/landowner submitted an application 
accompanied by landowner petition for annexation to the Lake of the Pines Zone of the County 
Sanitation District in order to establish public sewer service for the project, including collection, 
treatment and disposal; and, 

WHEREAS, the Executive Officer has reviewed the application and associated materials and 
has prepared a report including staff recommendations thereon within the time required by law 
and has furnished copies of said report to the Commission and to all other persons required by 

Attachment 6



Resolution 20-01 
Nevada LAFCo 
law to receive it; and, 

WHEREAS, at the time and in the manner provided by law, the Executive Officer gave notice 
of the date, time, and place of a hearing by the Commission upon said application; and, 

WHEREAS, at a hearing on January 16, 2020, the Commission considered the proposal, the 
associated materials, and the report of the Executive Officer; the factors determined by the 
Commission to be relevant to this proposal, including, but not limited to, factors specified in 
Government Code Section 56668; and all other relevant evidence and information presented at 
said hearing, including the comments of all interested parties desiring to be heard; 

NOW, THEREFORE, the Local Agency Formation Commission of Nevada County hereby 
determines the following: 

1. The territory comprises approximately 9.68 acres and is found to be uninhabited.

2. The proposal is accompanied by written consent from 100% of the landowners within the
subject territory.

3. The Commission has reviewed the proposal and the recommended determinations
regarding consistency with LAFCo Policies contained in the LAFCo staff report for this
project (dated January 16, 2020) and incorporates them by reference herein.

NOW, THEREFORE, the Commission makes the following findings pursuant to the 
California Environmental Quality Act: 

1. Nevada County LAFCo is a Responsible Agency with respect to California
Environmental Quality Act for this proposal, which includes annexation of the project
area to the County Sanitation District;

2. The County of Nevada, in its capacity as Lead Agency for the Higgins Marketplace
development project and related development entitlements, has prepared and certified a
Final Environmental Impact Report (SCH 2006112097), and adopted Findings of Fact, a
Statement of Overriding Consideration, and a Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting
Program.

3. There are no changed circumstances that would require LAFCo to prepare a
supplemental EIR  pursuant to State CEQA Guidelines Section 15162 or 15163; the
Commission has considered the information contained in the Final Environmental
Impact Report and the Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Plan prior to its action on
the proposal;

NOW, THEREFORE, the Commission resolves and orders the following: 

1. The boundaries, as set forth in the proposal, are hereby approved as depicted and described
in Exhibit A  attached hereto and by this reference incorporated herein.

2. The Commission hereby adopts the Findings of Fact, Statement of Overriding
Considerations prepared by the County of Nevada for the project, attached hereto as
Exhibit B, and the Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program prepared and adopted for
the project by the County of Nevada and contained within the Notice of Conditional
Approval File No. PM 04-020, U04-019 Dated April 21, 2010, attached hereto as
Exhibit C.

3. The proposal is approved, subject to terms and conditions as stated herein.



Resolution 20-01 
Nevada LAFCo 
4. The change of organization is assigned the following distinctive short-term designation:

County Sanitation District, Zone 2 (Lake of the Pines) —Annexation:  Higgins
Marketplace

5. The reorganization  consists of the following jurisdictional changes:

County Sanitation District – Annexation
6. The regular county assessment roll will be utilized.

7. No existing bonded indebtedness shall be affected by this reorganization.

8. As authorized by Section 56886(t) of the Government Code, all previously authorized
charges, fees, assessments, or taxes currently levied by the City shall be extended to the
subject territory upon completion of this annexation.

9. The exchange of tax revenues for the reorganization will be performed in accordance with
the provisions established by the Nevada County Board of Supervisors in the form of
Resolution 06-162.

10. LAFCo is the conducting authority for this reorganization.  In accordance with the
provisions of Section 56663 (c) and with Nevada LAFCo Policies, the Commission hereby
waives protest proceedings entirely.

11. The Executive Officer is hereby authorized and directed, upon the expiration of the
reconsideration period specified by Section 56895 and payment of all applicable fees and
satisfaction of all conditions for completion, to prepare and file a Certificate of Completion
as provided by Section 57200 of the California Government Code and to mail certified
copies of this resolution to each affected local agency as provided in Section 56882.

The foregoing resolution was duly passed by the Local Agency Formation Commission of 
Nevada County at a regular meeting held on January 16, 2020, by the following roll call vote: 

Ayes: 
Noes:  
Abstentions:  
Absent:  

Signed and approved by me after its passage this ____ day of January, 2020. 

Kurt Grundel, Chair 
Attest: Nevada LAFCo 

SR Jones, Executive Officer 



Resolution 20-01 
Nevada LAFCo 

Exhibit A  -- Map and Legal Description 
Exhibit B – Findings of Fact and Statement of Overriding Consideration (Lead Agency, County of Nevada) 
Exhibit C – Mitigation Monitoring Plan (Lead Agency, County of Nevada) (contained in Notice of Conditional 
Approval) 



Resolution 20-01 
Nevada LAFCo 

EXHIBIT A – Map and Legal Description 



SJones
Typewritten Text
Exhibit A



Exhibit A 

1 of 2 

EXHIBIT ‘A’ 

BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION OF ANNEXATION NO.__________ 

TO 

NEVADA COUNTY SANITATION DISTRICT NO. 1, ZONE #2 

All that real property, located within the North one half of Section 28, Township 14 

North, Range 8 East, M.D.B. & M., within Nevada County, California, more particularly 

described as follows: 

Beginning at a point from which the North one quarter corner of Section 28 bears

N 06°52’08” E 399.01 feet, thence from said Point of Beginning: 

Course 1.  S 07°48’00” E 0.59 feet, thence, 

Course 2.  Along a tangent curve concave Northeast having a radius of 455.00 feet, 

through a central angle of 23°17’51” for a distance of 185.01 feet, chord bearing being 

S 19°26’56” E and chord length being 183.74 feet, thence, 

Course 3.  Along a tangent curve concave Southwest having a radius of 395.00 feet, 

through a central angle of 36°56’02” for a distance of 254.62 feet, chord bearing being    

S 12°37’50” E and chord length being 250.24 feet, thence, 

Course 4.  S 05°50’11” W 221.22 feet, thence, 

Course 5.  Along a tangent curve concave Northwest having a radius of 28.77 feet, 

through a central angle of 85°29’55” for a distance of 42.93 feet, chord bearing being    

S 48°35’09” W and chord length being 39.06 feet, thence, 

Course 6.  N 88°39’54” W 253.06 feet, thence, 

Course 7.  Along a tangent curve concave Southeast having a radius of 455.00 feet, 

through a central angle of 46°44’14” for a distance of 371.15 feet, chord bearing being    

S 67°57’59” W and chord length being 360.95 feet, thence, 

Course 8.  Along a tangent curve concave Northwest having a radius of 395.00 feet, 

through a central angle of 04°12’10” for a distance of 28.97 feet, chord bearing being      

S 46°41’56” W and chord length being 28.97 feet, thence, 

Course 9.  N 14°42’00” W 96.21 feet, thence, 

Course 10.  N 75°18’00” E 8.41 feet, thence, 

Course 11.  N 14°13’32” W 192.01 feet, thence, 

Course 12.  N 75°18’00” E 94.21 feet, thence, 



Exhibit A 

2 of 2 

Course 13.  N 14°16’01” E 149.56 feet, thence, 

Course 14.  N 29°09’13” W 40.79 feet, thence, 

Course 15.  N 60°59’33” W 52.14 feet, thence, 

Course 16.  N 07°10’00” W 188.42 feet, thence, 

Course 17.  N 82°46’00” E 614.87 feet to the Point of Beginning and containing 9.66 

acres of land more or less. 

For assessment purposes only.  This description of land is not a legal property 

description as defined in the Subdivision Map Act and may not be used as the basis for an 

offer for sale of the land described. 



Resolution 20-01 
Nevada LAFCo 

EXHIBIT B – ENVIRONMENTAL FINDINGS AND STATEMENTS REQUIRED 
UNDER THE CALIFORNIA ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY ACT (PREPARED AND 

ADOPTED BY COUNTY OF NEVADA) 



SJones
Typewritten Text
Exhibit B









































































































































































































































Resolution 20-01 
Nevada LAFCo 

EXHIBIT C –MITIGATION MONITORING AND REPORTING PROGRAM ADOPTED 
BY THE COUNTY OF NEVADA FOR THE HIGGINS MARKETPLACE 

DEVELOPMENT PROJECT 



SJones
Typewritten Text
Exhibit C





























































For current information and other CALAFCO resources please visit www.calafco.org 

 

 

Updated November 21, 2019 

 

California Association of  

Local Agency Formation 

Commissions 

1020 12th Street, Suite 222 
Sacramento, CA 95814 

916-442-6536 

Sharing Information and Resources 

2020  EEvveennttss  CCaalleennddaarr
 

JANUARY 

13 CALAFCO University course (Orange 
County) 

17 CALAFCO Legislative Committee (Irvine) 

21-23 CA Assn. of Sanitation Agencies Conference 
(Indian Wells) 

22-24 League New Mayor & Council Academy 
(Sacramento) 

 

FEBRUARY 

21 CALAFCO Board of Directors Meeting (San 
Diego)  

 

MARCH 

5-8 Local Government Commission Ahwahnee 
Conference (Yosemite) 

6 CALAFCO Legislative Committee 
(Sacramento) 

12 Assn. of CA Water Agencies Legislative 
Symposium (Sacramento) 

25-27 CALAFCO Staff Workshop (Newport Beach) 

31 Fire District Assn. Annual Meeting (Napa) 
 

APRIL 

1-3 Fire District Assn. Annual Meeting (Napa) 

3 CALAFCO Legislative Committee (San 
Diego) 

22 League of Cities Legislative Day 
(Sacramento) 

 

MAY 

1 CALAFCO Board of Directors Meeting 
(Sacramento) 

5-8 Assn. of CA Water Agencies Conference 
(Monterey) 

8 CALAFCO Legislative Committee 
(Conference call)  

19-20 CA Special Districts Assn. Legislative Days 
(Sacramento) 

27-28 CA State Assn. of Counties Legislative Days 
(Sacramento) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

JUNE 

12 CALAFCO Legislative Committee 
(Conference call) 

17-18 League Mayor & Council Executive Forum 
(Monterey) 

 

JULY 

17 CALAFCO Legislative Committee 
(Conference call) 

24 CALAFCO Board of Directors Meeting (San 
Diego) 

 

AUGUST 

12-14 CA Assn. of Sanitation Agencies Annual 
Conference (Squaw Valley) 

24-27 CA Special Districts Assn. Annual 
Conference (Palm Desert) 

  

SEPTEMBER 

16-17 Regional Council of Rural Counties Annual 
Conference (Napa) 

 

OCTOBER 

2 CALAFCO Legislative Committee (2021) 
(Conference call) 

7-9 League Annual Conference (Long Beach) 

21-23  CALAFCO Annual Conference (Monterey) 

22 CALAFCO Annual Business Meeting 
(Monterey) 

23 CALAFCO Board of Directors Meeting 
(Monterey) 

 
NOVEMBER 

6 CALAFCO Legislative Committee (2021) 
(Sacramento) 

13 CALAFCO Board of Directors Meeting 
 (Sacramento) 
 
DECEMBER 

1-4 CA State Assn. of Counties Annual Conference 
(Los Angeles) 

1-4 Assn. of CA Water Agencies Conference 
(Indian Wells) 

 

 

THE CALIFORNIA ASSOCIATION OF LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSIONS 



  7.0 Executive Officer’s 
Activity Report 

Local Agency Formation Commission of Nevada County 
950 Maidu Avenue 

Nevada City, CA  95959 
Phone 530-265-7180 or 888-846-7180 

Date: January 16, 2020 
To: LAFCo Commissioners 
From: SR Jones, Executive Officer 
Subject: Executive Officer’s Activity Report 

This activity report is for the period from mid-November, 2019.   
1. Grass Valley:  Sphere Amendment and Annexation of Lyman Gilmore and Scotten Schools 

Following the Commission’s approval of this annexation and completion of the reconsideration 
period, LAFCo staff is preparing to record the annexation with the County and file it with the 
State Board of Equalization.   

2. Nevada Irrigation District: East Bennett Street Properties 
Following the Commission’s approval of this annexation, NID and LAFCo staff have discussed 
the feasibility of annexation of two ‘islands’ located in the vicinity of this annexation area.  The 
District indicates it plans to proceed this year with a proposal to address these properties.  
Several other island areas have been identified (in the vicinities of Osborne Hill, John Born 
Road, and off Highway 49) and NID staff will be researching the cost of mapping these areas to 
determine a budget for proceeding.  LAFCo staff is therefore completing the annexation process 
by recording the East Bennett Street annexation with the County and filing it with the State 
Board of Equalization.   

3. County Sanitation District:  Higgins Marketplace 
An application for annexation to the County Sanitation District was submitted by the developer 
of the Higgins Marketplace project in the Lake of the Pines area.  The development project itself 
was approved by the County in 2009, and the conditions of approval require annexation to the 
County Sanitation District for public wastewater service.  The County Sanitation District has 
provided a will serve letter and plan for services from the District.  LAFCo staff has completed 
review of the proposal and prepared a report, including recommendations for approval, and 
scheduled the matter for the Commission’s consideration at today’s meeting. 

4. Ethics Workshop 
LAFCo will host its annual Ethics Training on February 5, 2020 from 5 to 7pm.  This training 
session helps local officials meet the requirements of AB 1234, which requires public officials to 
receive a two-hour training on ethics (covering Open Meeting Law, Conflicts of Interest and 
other related topics) every two years.  The training is free and offered as a courtesy to local 
officials and interested members of the public.  This year, the session will be presented by David 
Ruderman (senior counsel at Colantuono, Highsmith and Whatley and attorney for the City of 
Lakeport, Yuba and Calaveras LAFCos) and Kit Elliott (County Counsel for Nevada County).     

5. Nevada Irrigation District:  Authority to Provide New Service 
The District had been exploring the potential for acquisition of the regional retail power 
distribution assets of Pacific Gas and Electric Company in response to PG&E bankruptcy 
proceedings. In order to begin providing the new service of retail power distribution, the District 
would need to apply to LAFCo and obtain authorization.  At its December 11, 2019 meeting, the 
NID Board opted not to proceed with these efforts.   



Executive Officer’s Activity Report 

2 

6. Western County Fire Reorganization Discussions 
Following the completion of a polling process to determine the interest of the public in financing 
an expanded level of service, these discussions have been discontinued.  

7. Upcoming LAFCo Projects & Proposals (most previously listed) 
• Grass Valley:  Southern Sphere Annexation 
Grass Valley staff has been working to obtain grant funding to support a project that would 
include annexation of the “Southern Sphere Annexation Area,” which is a large area located 
south of the City on the east and west sides of Highway 49, including a portion of Berriman 
Ranch and the industrial properties along La Barr Meadows Road.  The grant funding (SB 2) is 
intended to help local jurisdictions with planning efforts in support of promoting residential 
housing projects.  City has already prepared a Draft EIR for this project, but will now prepare a 
Supplemental EIR.  Tentatively, this project may be presented for Commission review later this 
year (i.e. in 2020).    
• Nevada City Sphere of Influence Plan Update 
LAFCo has contracted with consultant Kimley Horn to prepare a program Environmental Impact 
Report for the sphere update.  Staff is now reviewing the chapters of the administrative draft EIR 
and will be working closely with Nevada City staff as the process moves forward.     
• Western County Wastewater Agencies Sphere of Influence Updates 
In November 2018, the Commission considered a draft update to the sphere of influence plans 
for the County Sanitation District and the Kingsbury Greens Community Service District, and 
directed staff to identify an environmental consultant to prepare a CEQA compliance document 
for the sphere updates.  Subsequently, the Commission authorized a contract with environmental 
consultant Kimley Horn for preparation of an initial study of the environmental impacts of the 
sphere updates.  This work is expected to be completed within the coming months and will be 
presented to the Commission in conjunction with a public hearing for completion of the sphere 
of influence plan updates.     
• Nevada Irrigation District Sphere of Influence Plan Update 
The District plans to apply to LAFCo for a sphere of influence amendment and is preparing an 
Environmental Impact Report that will review both the sphere amendment and update. LAFCo 
staff and counsel have been working with the District to ensure the EIR adequately addresses the 
issues critical to LAFCo’s determinations.   The District is proposing that three areas be added to 
the sphere of influence:  1) 5,120 acres in the Cascade Shores/Banner Mountain area, which can 
be served by a newly installed treated water pipeline connecting the Cascade Shores area to the 
Elizabeth George treatment plant on Banner Mountain; 2) 702 acres located along Dog Bar 
Road, a ‘pocket area’ that is surrounded by the District’s boundaries on three sides; and, 3) 1,640 
acres north of Lake Wildwood, also a ‘pocket area.’  NID’s boundaries and service area include 
large portions of western Nevada and Placer counties.  Consequently, Placer LAFCo has been 
closely involved in the environmental review and sphere plan report process. 
 


	4.1. Introduce County Counsel Kit Elliot
	4.2. County Sanitation District, Lake of the Pines Zone: Annexation - Higgins Marketplace 
	Pursuant to Government Code Section 54954.2, Commission and staff members may make brief announcements or report on activities.  Commission members may also provide a reference to staff or other resources for factual information, request staff to repo...
	Public Comment
	Disclosure and Disqualification Requirements

	3.1 Draft Minutes.pdf
	Item 3.1  Draft Minutes.11.21.19
	NID power point.attachment to the 11.21.19 minutes

	4.2 CoSanDistAnnex LOPZone Higgins Marketplace.pdf
	Summary
	Recommendation
	Proposal and History
	Relationship to Other Projects
	Service Issues
	Boundary
	Timely Availability of Water Supplies
	Disadvantaged Unincorporated Communities
	The Higgins Corner/Lake of the Pines area is not considered by the County to be a Disadvantaged Unincorporated Community.
	The Commission’s policies recognize any Disadvantaged Unincorporated Community that have been identified by the County or any city.  The County recognizes five Disadvantaged Unincorporated Communities (Penn Valley, Rough and Ready, North San Juan, Was...
	Regional Supply of Housing
	Environmental Justice
	California Environmental Quality Act Compliance
	Governing Law and LAFCo Policy
	Commission Policy
	GENERAL POLICIES (Section II of the Commission’s Policies)
	Annexation Policies—General Standards  (Section IV)

	a. Utilize existing public agencies.
	b. Consolidate activities and services. 
	c. Restructure agency boundaries to provide more logical, effective, and efficient services.
	a. Definite boundaries are required. 
	b. Boundaries that are favored:
	a. The proposal must lead to planned, orderly and efficient development.
	b. An approved Sphere of Influence Plan is required.
	c. Findings with respect to alternative sites are required.
	d. Impact on adjacent agricultural/open space lands must be assessed.
	Consistent
	a. Unique
	b. Standards conflicts
	c. Quality/Cost
	d. No alternative is available

	a. A public health and safety threat exists.
	b. The residents have requested extension of non-growth-inducing community services.
	c. The subject area is likely to be developed for urban use within 5 years.
	Comments from the Public and from Affected Agencies
	Final Steps
	Remarks and Conclusion
	Technical Factors of Consideration
	Attachment 3 Higgins Marketplace Plan for Service.WillServeLetter.pdf
	Fred and Cathy Katz  – APN 057-260-017

	Attachment 6 - Res 20-01 Higgins Marketplace Co San Dist Annexation.pdf
	Resolution 20-01 of the
	Local  Agency  Formation  Commission of Nevada County, California
	County Sanitation District, Zone 2 (Lake of the Pines) —Annexation:  Higgins Marketplace
	EXHIBIT A – Map and Legal Description
	EXHIBIT B – ENVIRONMENTAL FINDINGS AND STATEMENTS REQUIRED UNDER THE CALIFORNIA ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY ACT (PREPARED AND ADOPTED BY COUNTY OF NEVADA)



	January 16 Agenda.pdf
	4.1. Introduce County Counsel Kitt Elliot
	4.2. County Sanitation District, Lake of the Pines Zone: Annexation - Higgins Marketplace 
	Pursuant to Government Code Section 54954.2, Commission and staff members may make brief announcements or report on activities.  Commission members may also provide a reference to staff or other resources for factual information, request staff to repo...
	Public Comment
	Disclosure and Disqualification Requirements





